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The James Simms House, 4927 Powder Mill Road, is sited on a slight knoll surrounded by a lawn interspersed with mature trees 
and shrubs. The property is currently 0.96 acre. An asphalt paved driveway leads from Maryland Route 212 (Powder Mill Road) 
along the south side of the house . An approximately six-foot wooden fence is located between Powder Mill Road and the house 
and also separates the property from adjoining lots. The property is located in the suburban town of Beltsville. There are various 
twentieth-century frame outbuildings and structures including a pool to the rear of the house. 

The two-bay, two-and-a-half story, frame , gable-roof, house, constructed c. 1890, faces east, toward Powder Mill Road . The house 
rests on a stuccoed brick foundation , is sheathed with aluminum siding, and.has an asphalt shingle roof. A corbelled, brick 
chimney is located along the ridge line of the front gable. The current dimensions of the house are approximately 20' by 60' with a 
24' by 60' garage addition. The main block of the house appears to have begun as an ell-shaped or T-shaped house with its front 
entrance on the east. However, the wrap-around porch at the southeast comer of the house has been enclosed on the front with no 
door on the east elevation. The main entrance is now along the south elevation. A two-bay, frame kitchen ell is to the rear of the 
main block of the house and appears to be original to the house 's construction. There have been numerous additions and changes 
made to the Simms House over the years making it difficult to read its original plan. 
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On the east elevation, the shed-roof front porch has been enclosed and is sheathed with aluminum siding. Three modem, one-over­
one windows with aluminum surrounds have been inserted in the porch on the east elevation . The second floor of the east 
elevation contains two windows each with two-over-two, wood double hung sash. The windows have aluminum surrounds, and the 
projecting sills are aluminum covered as well. There are louvered wooden shutters attached to each of the windows on this floor. 
The small attic window on this elevation has been enclosed with a modem ventilator. 

As noted above, the main entrance to the house is on the south elevation. A small vestibule has been created in the west comer of 
the otherwise open porch on this elevation. Three wooden steps lead up to the main entrance. The porch is supported with 
wrought iron posts with interior scrollwork design. The vestibule contains a single, modem door glazed with a nine-pane sash on 
the top half. A two-over-two, double-hung sash wood window with a single louvered shutter flanks the vestibule on this level. 
There is also a multi-pane wooden door allowing access to the enclosed section of the porch at this elevation. 

The single-bay ell on the house 's south elevation has a hipped-roof bay attached to the first floor. The bay has paired one-over-one 
windows along the south side and a single one-over-one window on the east side. Both have louvered wooden shutters attached to 
each side. The second floor of the south elevation of the main block, as well as on the ell, contains two-over-two, double-hung 
wood sash windows with aluminum surrounds flanked by louvered shutters. There is a small attic window on this elevation on the 
gable end which has been enclosed with a modem ventilator. 

The two-bay kitchen ell to the rear of the house ' s main block has an enclosed shed-roof porch attached to the first floor of the 
south elevation. Another, more recent shed-roof addition was made to the enclosed porch . The modem addition has single-pane 
ribbon windows along the south elevation which flank a modern door with an integrated fanlight at the top. The door is protected 
with a gable-front hood supported with brackets. There are also three ribbon windows along the west side of the addition, and the 
roof of the addition contains a curved, Plexiglas skylight. A single, partially enclosed, window with a small fixed sash flanks the 
modem addition. The second-floor windows of the kitchen ell contain two-over-two, double-hung sash with aluminum surrounds 
and louvered shutters similar with those throughout the main block of the house. 

A large garage complex was added to the kitchen ell in 1995 . The addition is partially two stories, and the remainder is one story 
with a deck above. It has a concrete foundation and is sheathed with aluminum siding. The flat-roof deck above the garage is 
enclosed with a wooden balustrade with square balusters . The south elevation of the garage addition contains three garage bays on 
the first level , and the second floor contains four ribbon windows of one-over-one configuration. The garage bays have modem 
roll-up doors. 

The west elevation of the garage addition only contains a large, long, fixed sash window, and there is a single door without glazing 
at the northwest comer. A wooden bridge, located above the door, connects the deck above the garage to a deck associated with 
an adjacent pool structure. The bridge and steps are enclosed with a wooden balustrade with square balusters similar to those 
above the garage. 

The north elevation of the house's main block is two bays deep with modem single sash and one-over-one windows on the first 
floor and two-over-two, double-hung wood sash units on the second floor. The second floor windows have louvered shutters 
simi lar to the others on the house. In addition, there is a single, one-over-one, modem window in the porch at this elevation. The 
projecting gable-front section on the north elevation has four ribbon windows on the second floor, each with a two-over-two 
configuration . The first floor may have had the same fenestration, but it now contains three modem, one-over-one windows and a 
modem door with glazing in the top half and three panels in the lower half. There is a single, fixed sash wood window at the attic 
level of the gab le-front section. A small, shed-roof porch has been added to the kitchen ell along the north elevation. The porch 
contains modern, one-over-one windows, and a door, flanked by similar windows, opens at its west end. The windows on the 
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second floor of the kitchen ell along the north elevation are similar to those throughout the house. The remaining window on the 
first floor of the kitchen ell has been partially enclosed and now only contains a single-sash window. 

The north elevation of the garage addition shows a two-story enclosed stair tower at the northeast comer, and the remainder of the 
structure is one story. The one-story section includes a single roll-up garage door and a single paneled door. Similar to the south 
elevation, a wooden balustrade with square balusters tops the flat roof above the garage section. 

Garage 

There is a frame, two-bay, gable-front garage located at the northwest side of the garage addition to the house. It rests on a 
concrete foundation and has a concrete floor. It also has an asphalt shingle covered roof and is sheathed with ridged particle board 
siding. It features a single roll-up door with four ribbon windows in its upper half and a door with nine-pane glazing in its upper 
half and two panels in the lower half. 

Pergola 

A pergola-like structure is located west of the modem garage and pool. It is a post and beam structure constructed on a raised, 
wooden platform. It has an open slat roof, and a wooden swing is attached to the rear beam. 

Utility Shed 

There is a small frame utility shed located at the southeast comer of the asphalt driveway. It appears to rest directly on the asphalt 
paving. The gable roof is covered with asphalt shingles, and it is cantilevered to the front. The building is sheathed with vertical, 
ribbed siding. It features four doors on the front, three of which are single-leaf and one is double-leaf. 

Pool 

There is an in-ground, circular pool located to the rear of the modem garage and deck. There is a concrete walkway around the 
pool which is enclosed with a wooden balustrade with square balusters similar to that on the deck of the modem garage. 

Beltsville 

The Washington Branch of the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad (B & 0) was constructed through northern Prince George's County in 
1835. The B & 0 brought about the creation of the new community of Beltsville. The B & 0 established a rail stop with a freight 
depot on land purchased from Trueman Belt, and the depot was named after him. It was also a boon for the Beltsville area that the 
Baltimore & Washington Turnpike crossed the rail line at this point. Beltsville soon became a thriving trading center (Virta 1998: 
87). 

In the 1890s Beltsville gained new residents with work or business associations with Washington. Beltsville became part of the 
thriving suburban corridor stretching out from Washington. The community added new businesses, schools, churches, clubs, and 
organized activities such as baseball teams. By 1897, the streetcar had come to northern Prince George's County (Virta 1998: 
191). In I 9 I 0 the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) began to purchase land for the Agricultural Research Service 
(ARS), the main research program of the USDA. The facility is presently known as the Beltsville Agricultural Research Center 
(BARC), encompassing 14,600 acres, is a leading center of agricultural science research in the world. The original USDA 
facilities were located within two miles of the Beltsville Northwest Survey Area. Over the course of the early-to-mid twentieth 
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century the USDA facilities expanded significantly. 

In the period during and following World War I the growth of Washington and the federal government spurred the pace of 
suburban development in Prince George's County, particularly along the City & Suburban Railway line and the Washington 
Branch of the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad . The county was most densely populated along the line of the Baltimore-Washington 
Boulevard (Route !). This included the 14-mile stretch between Laurel and Bladensburg. During that time more than 75% of the 
area ' s residents were employed in the federal government or worked in Washington (Virta 1998: 193). 

From the time of initial settlement in the 1830s, the village of Beltsville developed in a random manner. There is no known plan 
for its early-to-mid nineteenth-century development. By the late nineteenth-century the village consisted of a few residences, two 
churches, several small stores, a blacksmith shop, and a wheelwright shop. The Beltsville Land Improvement Company was 
chartered in 189 I , and in the following thirty years the South Beltsville subdivision created a grid of streets. The town plan was 
marketed to professionals who wanted to escape the congestion of Washington, and the development during this period was a 
mixture of Victorian-style and Colonial-style architecture. Growth of the community was spurred by the extension of the electric 
railway to Beltsville. The electric streetcar system was located west of the railroad, along the present-day line of Rhode Island 
Avenue, and served as a nucleus for additional subdivisions. Even with the introduction of the automobile, the Beltsville area grew 
slowly during the 1930s and 1940s, and most of the housing constructed during this period was modest in nature. A new 
elementary school was constructed at 4600 Powder Mill Road ca. 1940 to serve Beltsville's growing population. 

Following World War 11 , intense development came to the Beltsville area (Alushin 2015). The growth of the Federal government 
and improved transportation systems combined to encourage development in Prince George's County, including the Beltsville 
area. U.S. 1 was a main transportation corridor within Prince George's County and linked with Washington , D.C. The corridor 
experienced various stages of growth throughout the nineteenth and twentieth century, including the establishment of small village 
settings. However, the greatest growth occurred in the second half of the twentieth century. By the early 1960s additional schools, 
including the Beltsville Junior High School, had been constructed to accommodate new residents. Additional transportation 
improvements included the Capital Beltway (l-495), a 66 mile circumferential highway completed in 1964, and Interstate 95, 
completed in 1971. 

Ownership History 

The house at 4927 Powder Mill Road, also known as the James Simms House, appears to date to the late nineteenth century (c. 
I 890). However, the Prince George's County tax assessment office gives the construction date as 1935. The house was most 
likely built by James Simms. James was the son of John Simms, a well-known landowner, businessman, and developer in the 
Beltsville area during the mid-to-late nineteenth century. John Simms (1804-1887) was a native of Ireland and settled in Maryland 
in 1827. He relocated from Baltimore to the Beltsville area during the mid-nineteenth century. John Simms owned a tavern, 
sawmill , and several residential properties in Beltsville. He and his family do not appear in the 1850 population census for Prince 
George ' s County, but the 1860 census for the county shows John Simms, aged 57, as a merchant with $25 ,000 worth of real estate 
and $4,000 worth of personal estate. He along with his wife Sarah, aged 50, had seven children, ranging in age from eight years to 
25 years, living in the household at that time. They included Simms ' son James, aged 22 years, and his daughter Elizabeth, aged 
18 years. Also in the household was Simms' brother Alexander, listed as a clerk and also born in Ireland. 

The Probate Court records for Prince George's County show that John Simms died in 1887, and his son James died in 1893 . 
However, neither had a will probated. James Simms had acquired the one acre tract, on which the current c . 1890 Simms House is 
located, from John Simms on July I, 1886 (liber 7 folio 579). John's daughter Elizabeth S. Jones, aged 55, appears in the 1900 
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population census for Vansville, Prince George's County. She is a widow by this time and lives with her three children : John 
S[imms], aged 30, is listed as a clerk; her son Harry R., aged 27, as a salesman; and daughter Carrie E., is aged 24 years. Laura 
Hebron, aged 14, is listed as a servant in the household. John S. Jones and Carrie Jones came into possession of the property 
through their uncle James Simms. 

By 1910 John S. Jones is listed as an insurance agent, and Harry R. is noted as a merchant. The 1920 population census continues 
to show the three siblings in the same household, presumably in the James Simms House. At this time, John S. Jones, aged 50, is 
listed as a real estate agent; Harry R. , aged 45, owns a grocery business; and Carrie E., aged 43, is evidently doing housework. 
The 1930 population census notes John S. Jones, aged 60, as the head of household along with his wife Sarah E. , aged 58 years . 
He ' s listed as an insurance agent at this time. His brother Harry and sister Carrie remain in the household along with a cousin , 
Miron Cassard. 

The Sim.ms and Jones families were closely associated with nearby St. John's Episcopal Church also known as Zion Parish. In 
1885 John Simms donated one and three quarters acres to the church and cemetery. The church's 1925 rectory burned in 1936, 
and a new rectory was constructed on land given by John S. Jones (Stones and Bones 1984: 142). Among the members buried in 
the Simms family plot at St. John's Episcopal Church Cemetery are John Simms 1804-1887 and James Simms 183 8-1893 (Stones 
and Bones 1984: 158). Among the Jones family buried at St. John 's are: Elizabeth S. Jones ( 1842-1916); Harry R. Jones, died 
August 31 , 1943 ; John S. Jones, died May 29, 1948; and Carrie E. Jones, died September 25, 1951 (Stones and Bones 1984: 
151 ). 

St. John's Church received the residence as a bequest from Sarah (Sadie) E. Jones in 1952 (Will Book W.C.H. I folio 353). Roger 
and Martha Berghauser acquired the property on September 22, 1955 from N.B. Stewart, a representative of the Vestry of Zion 
Parish (St. John's Episcopal Church), Beltsville, Maryland (liber 1934 folio 554). Paul and Katherine (Tinus) Thompson purchased 
the property from Roger and Martha Berghauser on February 23, 1984 (liber 5850 folio 708). The residence was owned by Paul 
and Katherine Thompson from 1984 until 2000. The property is currently owned by Joshua B. Hunley, who purchased the 
residence on January 7, 2000 from Paul and Katherine Thompson (Prince George's County liber 13594 folio 724). 

Evaluation 

The James Simms House is not known to have been associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad 
patterns of our history under Criterion A. The property is not known to have been associated with any person(s) of historical 
significance under Criterion B. Under Criterion C, the c. 1890 Simms House, with its lack of architectural detailing, is not a 
distinctive example of any Victorian-era style architecture such as Queen Anne, Second Empire or the Colonial Revival style 
architecture of northern Prince George ' s County. The Dr. Charles Fox House (PG: 61-07), immediately south of the James Simms 
House, displays elements of the Italianate style and retains a high level of integrity. In addition , the James Simms House has 
suffered many additions and changes over the years since its initial construction. All that largely remains intact are the second 
floor two-over-two, double-hung wood sash windows with their louvered shutters. Most recently, a large combination garage, 
deck and pool have been added to rear of the house. Archaeological investigations have not been conducted on the property; 
therefore, the resource's eligibility under Criterion D (potential to yield information important to history or prehistory) cannot be 
assessed at this time. The James Simms House is not eligible for the National Register of Historic Places. 

Integrity Statement 

Location 
Location is the place where the historic property was constructed or the place where the historic event took place. The James 
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Simms House retains integrity of location. 

Design 
Design is the composition of elements that constitute the form, plan, space, structure, and style of a property. The James Simms 
House has undergone major alterations and changes over the years since its construction, including additions to every elevation of 
the house, making it difficult to discern how it initially looked. Overall, the Simms House retains a low degree of integrity of 
design . 

Setting 
Setting is the physical environment ofa historic property that illustrates the character of the place. The James Simms House is 
located within a suburban residential neighborhood that has continued to grow and change since the early twentieth century. The 
property is now surrounded by a six-foot high wooden fence . 

Materials 
Materials are the physical elements combined in a particular pattern or configuration to form an historic property during a 
particular period in the past. The James Simms House has lost much of its integrity of materials. It has modern aluminum siding, 
asphalt roofing, and modern replacement windows throughout the house. It does retain its ventilator type shutters on the second 
floor. 

Workmanship 
Workmanship is the physical evidence of the crafts ofa particular culture or people during any given period of history. The James 
Simms House demonstrates little of the workmanship from its original period of construction . 

Feeling 
Feeling is the quality that a historic property has in evoking the aesthetic or historic sense of a past period of time. Although it is 
itself intangible, feeling is dependent upon the significant physical characteristics that convey its historic qualities . The James 
Simms House fails to convey the historic sense of its late nineteenth century construction period. 

Association 
Association is the direct link between a property and the event or person for which the property is significant. The James Simms 
House is associated with the late nineteenth century development of the suburban Beltsville. Due to changes over the years, the 
James Simms House lacks clear association with the suburban development of Beltsville. 
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